S275023

Case No. S

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE

STATE OF CALIFORNIA

CESAR ROMERO and TATANA SPICAKOVA ROMERO

Plaintiffs and Appellants,

v.

LI-CHUAN SHIH and TUN-JEN KO

Defendants and Respondents.

After a decision by the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Eight, Case No. B310069

PETITION FOR REVIEW

McCormick, Barstow, Sheppard, Wayte & Carruth LLP Scott M. Reddie, #173756 scott.reddie@mccormickbarstow.com 7647 North Fresno Street Fresno, California 93720 Telephone: (559) 433-1300 Facsimile: (559) 433-2300

Attorneys for CESAR ROMERO and TATANA SPICAKOVA ROMERO

II. ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Whether the rule of law precluding court ordered *exclusive* prescriptive and implied easements also applies to court ordered equitable easements?

2. Whether the fee title holder, or the party requesting a court-ordered equitable easement, has the burden of proof showing that the requested easement is narrowly tailored and not greater than reasonably necessary to protect the trespasser's needed use interest?

III. WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

Absent finding an easement is de minimis or necessary for public health or safety, court ordered *exclusive* prescriptive and implied easements are not permitted as a matter of law. Prior cases permitting exclusive *equitable* easements all involved situations where the easement was de minimis or

7

necessary for public health or safety. Now, for the first time, a Court of Appeal has affirmed a court ordered exclusive *equitable* easement that is not de minimis or necessary for public health or safety, creating a conflict with existing cases. And, in doing so, the Court of Appeal has also created additional new precedent contrary to existing authority by shifting the otherwise heavy burden of proof on the trespasser to the property owner. The Court of Appeal's published Opinion permitting an exclusive equitable easement over 13% of Petitioners' residential property regardless of necessity creates dangerous new precedent contrary to fundamental real property rights. Review should be granted so this Court can settle the law as it relates to permissible equitable easements and resolve the conflict now created by the Court of Appeal Opinion.

Real property ownership is a fundamental right protected by the United States Constitution (Fifth Amendment) and the California Constitution (Art. I, sec. 19). The California Constitution also protects the inalienable right of "acquiring, possessing, and protecting property." (Art. 1, sec. 1.) And, as this Court has stated, in the field of land titles "certainty and stability are the watchwords of an orderly society." (Buehler v. Oregon-Washington Plywood Corp. (1976) 17 Cal.3d 520, 532-532. See also Drake v. Martin (1994) 30 Cal.App.4th 984, 996 ["Public policy favors stability of title to real property."]; *Kreisher v. Mobile Oil Corp.* (1988) 198 Cal.App.3d 389, 403-404 ["[S]tability is at a premium" in the area of land titles].) Unless the Court of Appeal's Opinion is corrected, the rights of owners of real property will be subject to the whims of courts rather than straightforward rules providing the certainty essential to fee title holders of real property.

Fee title ownership of land gives the owner a possessory right in the land. An easement, on the other hand, is not a possessory ownership right but is, instead, a right to use, for a specified limited purpose, a portion of land owned by someone else.

In general, there are two types of easements: (1) an easement expressly granted in a written and recorded instrument; and (2) an easement created by a court based on specified criteria (i.e., prescriptive, implied and equitable). A real property owner can, of course, voluntarily grant to a third party an easement which, in effect, gives that third party exclusive use and possession of the easement area. Given the importance of real property ownership rights, however, there are limitations to court created easements which are involuntarily imposed over the objection of the fee title property owner. As the Court of Appeal Opinion acknowledged, courts have uniformly recognized that, absent two very limited exceptions (de minimis and public safety), a court cannot create a *prescriptive* easement in favor of a third party which has the effect of leaving the fee title holder with no practical use of the property subject to the easement. The rationale is awarding such an *exclusive* prescriptive easement would be akin to a taking of property, which is not permitted.

In this case, the trial court created an exclusive implied easement or, alternatively, an exclusive equitable easement which left the Romeros with no practical use of 13% of their residential property which serves as their primary residence. On appeal, the Romeros argued the rationale precluding court ordered *exclusive* prescriptive easements which are not de minimis or necessary for public health or safety should apply to all court ordered easements, including the implied easement and equitable easement ordered by the trial court. Based on the same rationale precluding exclusive prescriptive easements, the Court of Appeal concluded, in a case of first impression, that exclusive implied easements which are not de minimis or necessary for public health or safety are not permitted as a matter of law.

For unknown reasons, the Court of Appeal did not address at all whether the same rule applies to court ordered equitable easements. Although the Court of Appeal concluded the court ordered easement was exclusive, was not de minimis or necessary for public health or safety, and left the Romeros with no practical use of 13% of their residential property, the Court of Appeal affirmed the judgment creating the equitable easement without addressing the exclusivity issue.

The rationale precluding exclusive prescriptive and implied easements should equally apply to equitable easements. The fact that the Court of Appeal's Opinion is silent on that issue will lead to confusion and uncertainty in the State of California about whether exclusive equitable easements which are not de minimis or necessary for public health or safety are permissible. This case presents the perfect vehicle for this Court to provide the needed certainty regarding equitable easements.

Additionally, there is long-standing precedent that the person requesting the court-ordered equitable easement has an extremely heavy burden of establishing the required elements, one of which is showing the requested easement is narrowly tailored and not greater than reasonably necessary to protect the needed use interest. The Court of Appeal's Opinion has shifted the narrowly tailored burden to the fee title holder, which creates a conflict with existing precedent. In doing so, the Court of Appeal also improperly concluded a fee title holder can lose constitutionally protected real property rights simply because the fee title holder chose not to voluntarily give-up any of his/her property.

This Court should grant review to clarify whether the exclusivity rule precluding prescriptive and implied easements which are not de minimis or necessary for public health or safety also applies to equitable easements. This Court should further grant review to resolve the apparent conflict about the burden of proof on the narrowly tailored element of an equitable easement. Alternatively, this Court should grant review and transfer the case back to the Court of Appeal with instructions for the Court of Appeal to (1) address whether the exclusivity rule applies to equitable easements and/or (2) properly analyze the narrowly tailored requirement using the proper burden of proof.

IV. BACKGROUND

A. The parties and the properties

This case involves a dispute over a 1,296 square foot strip of land between the owners of adjacent residential properties located at 651 West Algeria Avenue ("651 Property") and 643 West Algeria Avenue ("643 Property") in Sierra Madre, California. (2AA/303.)

Petitioners Cesar Romero and Tatana Spicakova Romero ("the Romeros") have owned the 651 Property since

12

April 2014, and Respondents Li-Chuan Shih and Tun-Jen Ko ("the Shih-Kos") have owned the 643 Property since July 2014. (2AA/303.) The Romeros use the 651 Property as their primary residence whereas the 643 Property is used as a rental property (RT/246). It is undisputed the Romeros are the fee title owners of the 1,296 square foot strip of land. (2AA/303.)

B. The original owner of both properties starts, but then abandons, his effort to change the lot line between the 651 Property and the 643 Property

In the 1960s, the 643 Property and 651 Property were owned by Edwin and Ann Cutler. (RT/146-147.) The Cutlers lived in the home on the 643 Property and the 651 Property was a vacant lot. (RT/146-147.) The 643 Property was 50 feet wide and 157 feet deep. (See, e.g., 2AA/351-353.) The 651 Property was 63 feet wide and 157 feet deep. (*Ibid.*)

On February 4, 1985, Edwin Cutler submitted to the City of Sierra Madre Planning Commission an application for a variance, which would have the effect of increasing the width of the 643 Property to 58 feet and decreasing the width of the 651 Property to 55 feet. (2AA/346-353.) A variance was required prior to any boundary line adjustment because, at that time, the Sierra Madre Municipal Code required a lot width of at least 60 feet. (2AA/349.) Obtaining Planning Commission approval was just the first step in the process. (RT/181, 187.) Once approved, the applicant was required to obtain and record a survey and legal description—to be reviewed by the city engineer—and obtain a certificate of compliance signed by the director of public works. (RT/181, 187.) In the end, however, Mr. Cutler never completed the process, so the lot line was never adjusted. (2AA/358-361; RT/189-191, 218-222, 351-354.) There is no evidence in the record regarding why Edwin Cutler never completed the process.

C. After efforts to adjust the lot line are apparently abandoned, a home is built on the 651 Property

In mid-1985, after apparently having abandoned his efforts to obtain a lot line adjustment, Edwin Cutler, his son Bevon Cutler, and David Shewmake entered into an agreement wherein Bevon and David would build a home on the 651 Property and then, when the home was sold, Edwin would receive from the sale the value of the undeveloped lot and Bevon and David would split the net remaining proceeds from the sale. (RT/148, 161, 167-168.) As part of the process of building the home on the 651 Property, Bevon and David built a six foot high brick wall between the two properties. (2AA/363; RT/161.) They built the brick wall in the same location where there was an existing chain link fence without verifying whether the chain link fence was on the property line. (RT/160.)

D. When the 651 Property sold, all relevant documentation contains its original legal description

A "Notice of Completion" for the home on the 651 Property was issued on May 8, 1986. (2AA/371-372.) The legal description on the Notice of Completion is the original legal description, for a 63 foot wide lot. (2AA/371-372.) Prior to the issuance of the Notice of Completion, Edwin Cutler and Ann Cutler grant deeded the 651 Property to Bevon and David. (2AA/365-366.) Because the lot line was never adjusted, the grant deed from Edwin Cutler contained the original legal description of a 63 foot wide property. (2AA/365-366.) There was no reference in the deed to any easement in favor of the 643 Property.

The 651 Property was then sold, and Bevon and David executed a grant deed in favor of the buyers, Manfred and Elizabeth Leong, which was recorded on May 9, 1986. (2AA/368-369.) The legal description remained the same and no easement was referenced. (2AA/368-369.)

E. When the Shih-Kos purchased the 643 Property, they failed to properly inspect the boundary lines

In June 2014, the 643 Property was sold to the Shih-Kos for \$658,500. (3AA/475-485.) The 643 Property was advertised for sale as a 50 foot wide lot, and the Shih-Kos were aware of the width of the lot. (RT/252, 254.) The legal description in the grant deed is the original 643 Property legal description, a 50 foot wide lot. (3AA/446-447, 485; RT/250-251.) There is nothing about the easterly 8 feet of the 651 Property or any easements in favor of the 643 Property. (3AA/443-461; RT/233-234.) Prior to close of escrow, the Shih-Kos were specifically advised to independently verify the lot size and boundaries because those items had not been verified by the seller, but they chose not to. (4AA/522.)

F. The 643 Property trespasses on 1,296 square feet, or 13% of the 651 Property

There is no dispute that, if the Shih-Kos had investigated the boundaries of the 643 Property as they were advised to do before closing escrow, that investigation would have revealed the planter, portions of the driveway, and a portion of the back and side yard trespassed on the 651 Property a total of 1,296 square feet (157.14 foot length of the property by 8.25 foot width), which amounts to 13% of the Romeros' property. (4AA/512-520.)

G. The Romeros purchase the 651 Property and the deed contains the original legal description with no reference to an easement in favor of the 643 Property

Turning to the 651 Property, in 2005 the Leongs sold the 651 Property to Dawn Hicks. (2AA/384.) The legal description in the grant deed confirms the property is 63 feet wide. (2AA/384.) There is no reference that the 651 Property is encumbered by an easement in favor of the 643 Property. (2AA/384.) The 651 Property was foreclosed upon in 2012. (2AA/387-389.) At that time, the legal description remained the same, 63 feet wide. (2AA/388.)

On April 9, 2014, the Romeros purchased the 651 Property for \$892,500. (3AA/403, 410.) No one told the Romeros the 651 Property was encumbered by an easement in favor of the 643 Property. (RT/661.) The lot size was advertised at approximately 9,900 square feet. (RT/660, 713.) The size of the lot was an important factor in their decision to purchase. (RT/661, 713.)

H. The Romeros discover the Shih-Kos are trespassing on 1,296 square feet of their property

In 2015, while Mr. Romero was working on some yard improvements and taking some measurements, the measurements seemed inconsistent with a lot size of 9,900 square feet. (RT/663-664.) As a result, the Romeros hired a surveyor, James Kevorkian, to conduct a survey of their property. (RT/662.) Mr. Kevorkian concluded the brick wall was not built on the property line. (4AA/512-520; RT/389-393, 401.) Rather, the true property line was 8.25 feet closer to the 643 Property. (3AA/491; 4AA/514-520; RT/392.)

As a result, the brick garden bed (which is 5.53 feet wide) is on the 651 Property. (3AA/491; 4AA/519-520.)

Additionally, 2.72 feet of the 643 Property driveway, to the east of the planter bed, is on the 651 Property. At the north end of the garden bed, where the brick wall starts, 8.25 feet of concrete slab is on the 651 Property. The garage on the 643 Property, located at the north end of the driveway, is 0.8 feet from the true property line and was constructed entirely on the 643 Property. There is a small window air conditioning unit on the garage that encroaches 1.2 feet into the true property line. (4AA/510; RT/167.) From the southwest corner of the Shih-Kos' garage to the back end of the 643 Property line, 8.25 feet by 69 feet (20 feet + 25 feet, 10 inches + 23 feet) of the backyard and side-yard is on the 651 Property. (3AA/491; 4AA/514-520.) The total trespass area is 8.25 feet wide and 157.13 feet deep, which equates to 1,296 square feet, or approximately 13% of the 651 Property. (3AA/491; 4AA/519-520; RT/272-273, 393.)

I. No structures on the 643 Property will have to be moved if a wall is built on the true property line

The trespass area is clearly depicted on a number of photos and renderings. (3AA/491-495; 4AA/509-510, 528, 537.) If the brick wall is moved to the actual property line, the first 30 feet of the 643 Property driveway would be 8.37 feet wide, the next 27.5 feet of the driveway (where it borders the 643 Property home) would be 7.2 feet wide, and thereafter the driveway would widen again. (3AA/491; 4AA/519-520.)

The newly constructed brick wall would be 0.8 feet to the west of the 643 garage. (4AA/515, 519.) Thus, if the brick wall is moved to the true property line, no structures on the 643 Property would have to be moved and the 643 Property would not be landlocked.

J. The Romeros advise the Shih-Kos about the trespass, but the Shih-Kos do not agree to permit the Romeros to build a wall on the true property line

After learning about the encroachment, the Romeros realized they were unable to use 13% of their property because it was separated by a 6 foot high brick wall and raised brick planter box, and was being exclusively used by the 643 Property. (RT/714.) The Romeros desired to relocate the brick wall to the actual property line so they would have full use and enjoyment of their property. (RT/663.) Moving the brick wall to the actual property line will provide them with more privacy, will permit them to plant additional trees and an orchard, and will give them more room to put in a pool. (RT/670.)

The Shih-Kos primarily live in Taiwan. (RT/228.) The 643 Property is a rental property managed by David Tsai, who also served as the Shih-Kos' real estate broker when they purchased the 643 Property. (RT/227, 246.) After learning the location of the true property line, the Romeros contacted

Mr. Tsai, provided him with a copy of the survey and stated they intended to move the brick wall to the actual property line. (3AA/487-489; RT/235-236, 663.) Thereafter, Mr. Tsai went to the City of Sierra Madre and learned about Edwin Cutler's 1985 variance application. (RT/241.) Based on what Mr. Tsai found, he incorrectly believed the lot line had previously been adjusted. (RT/241-242.) Thus, Mr. Tsai did not agree to a relocation of the brick wall.

K. The Romeros file their complaint and the Shih-Kos cross-complain

Unable to resolve the issue, on February 10, 2016, the Romeros filed a complaint against the Shih-Kos alleging causes of action for trespass, quiet title and declaratory relief. (4AA/562.) The operative third amended complaint, filed on May 22, 2019, alleges causes of action for wrongful occupation of real property, quiet title, trespass, private nuisance, wrongful disparagement of title and permanent injunction. (1AA/37-120.) The Shih-Kos filed a cross-complaint alleging causes of action for equitable easement, implied easement, quiet title and declaratory relief. (1AA/12-25.) L. Following a court trial, the court orders that the Shih-Kos, and all future owners of the 643 Property, have an exclusive implied easement or, alternatively, an exclusive equitable easement to use and possess 13% of the Romeros' property

A court trial took place over four days in March 2020. The trial focused on the claims of implied and equitable easements over the 8-foot strip because, as the court stated, if it found an easement exists, that finding would dispose of the other claims. (2AA/304.) The court and the parties agreed at trial that given the nature of the disputed area, if the court were to conclude the 643 Property has easement rights with respect to the 1,296 square foot area, it would amount to an *exclusive* easement in favor of the 643 Property and that the Romeros would have no right or ability to use that portion of their property. (RT/442-443.)

On August 24, 2020, the court issued its proposed Statement of Decision, finding the Shih-Kos have an implied easement over the entire 1,296 square foot area. Alternatively, the court found the Shih-Kos have an equitable easement over the same area. (1AA/139.) The court overruled the Romeros' objections to the proposed Statement of Decision (1AA/151-289) and, on September 28, 2020, the court issued its Statement of Decision. (2AA/303-315.)

The court concluded "the Shih-Kos possess an implied easement over the eight-foot strip of land. Further, the Court finds that, if there were no such implied easement, an equitable easement should arise, which would entitle the Romeros to compensation of \$69,000." (2AA/304.) In so finding, the court rejected the Romeros' argument that a court does not have the power to award what is in effect an exclusive easement that precludes the actual property owner from any practical use of their property. (2AA/308.) The court further concluded its easement findings were dispositive of the other claims raised by the parties. (2AA/314.)

Judgment was entered on October 26, 2020, and the Romeros thereafter timely appealed. (2AA/317-320, 342.)

M. The Court of Appeal reverses the court-created implied easement, finding it was an exclusive easement and exclusive implied easements are not permissible as a matter of law

The Court of Appeal began its analysis by discussing the distinction between an easement and fee title ownership: "The key distinction between an ownership interest in land and an easement interest in land is that the former involves possession of land whereas the latter involves a limited use of land." (Opinion, at 28, citing *Hansen v. Sandridge Partners, L.P.* (2018) 22 Cal.App.5th 1020, 1032.)

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