Case No. S275023

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE

## STATE OF CALIFORNIA

## CESAR ROMERO and TATANA SPICAKOVA ROMERO

Plaintiffs and Appellants,

v.

LI-CHUAN SHIH and TUN-JEN KO

Defendants and Respondents.

After a decision by the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Eight, Case No. B310069

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

McCormick, Barstow, Sheppard, Wayte & Carruth LLP Scott M. Reddie, #173756 scott.reddie@mccormickbarstow.com 7647 North Fresno Street Fresno, California 93720 Telephone: (559) 433-1300 Facsimile: (559) 433-2300

Attorneys for CESAR ROMERO and TATANA SPICAKOVA ROMERO

##

#### II. WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Absent finding an easement is de minimis or necessary for public health or safety, court ordered *exclusive* prescriptive are not permitted as a matter of law. In its Opinion, the Court of Appeal properly concluded the rationale precluding exclusive prescriptive easements also applies to court-ordered implied easements. Review should, therefore, be denied.

property ownership is a fundamental right Real United States by the Constitution (Fifth protected Amendment) and the California Constitution (Art. I, sec. 19). The California Constitution also protects the inalienable right of "acquiring, possessing, and protecting property." (Art. I, sec. 1.) And, as this Court has stated, in the field of land titles "certainty and stability are the watchwords of an orderly society." (Buehler v. Oregon-Washington Plywood Corp. (1976) 17 Cal.3d 520, 532-532. See also Drake v. Martin (1994) 30

Cal.App.4th 984, 996 ["Public policy favors stability of title to real property."]; *Kreisher v. Mobile Oil Corp.* (1988) 198 Cal.App.3d 389, 403-404 ["[S]tability is at a premium" in the area of land titles].)

Fee title ownership of land gives the owner a possessory right in the land. An easement, on the other hand, is not a possessory ownership right but is, instead, a right to use, for a specified limited purpose, a portion of land owned by someone else.

In general, there are two types of easements: (1) an easement expressly granted in a written and recorded instrument; and (2) an easement created by a court based on specified criteria (i.e., prescriptive, implied and equitable). A real property owner can, of course, voluntarily grant to a third party an easement which, in effect, gives that third party exclusive use and possession of the easement area. Given the importance of real property ownership rights, however, there are limitations to court created easements which are involuntarily imposed over the objection of the fee title property owner.

As the Court of Appeal Opinion acknowledged, courts have uniformly recognized that, absent two very limited exceptions (de minimis and public safety), a court cannot create a *prescriptive* easement in favor of a third party which has the effect of leaving the fee title holder with no practical use of the property subject to the easement. The rationale is awarding such an *exclusive* prescriptive easement would be akin to a taking of property, which is not legally permitted.

In this case, the trial court created an exclusive implied easement which left the Romeros with no practical use of 13% of their residential property which serves as their primary residence. On appeal, the Romeros argued the rationale precluding court ordered *exclusive* prescriptive easements which are not de minimis or necessary for public health or safety should apply to all court ordered easements, including the implied easement ordered by the trial court. Based on the same rationale precluding exclusive prescriptive easements, the Court of Appeal correctly concluded, in a case of first impression, that exclusive implied easements which are not de minimis or necessary for public health or safety are not permitted as a matter of law.

The Shih-Kos' petition for review should be denied. Moreover, this Court should review whether any court ordered exclusive easement which deprives the property owner of all practical use of the property owner's property and gives it to another private party is void and in violation of the Takings Clause.

#### III. BACKGROUND FACTS

#### A. The parties and the properties

This case involves a dispute over a 1,296 square foot strip of land between the owners of adjacent residential properties located at 651 West Algeria Avenue ("651 Property") and 643 West Algeria Avenue ("643 Property") in Sierra Madre, California. (2AA/303.)

Cesar Romero and Tatana Spicakova Romero ("the Romeros") have owned the 651 Property since April 2014, and petitioners herein Li-Chuan Shih and Tun-Jen Ko ("the Shih-Kos") have owned the 643 Property since July 2014. (2AA/303.) The Romeros use the 651 Property as their primary residence whereas the 643 Property is used as a rental property (RT/246). It is undisputed the Romeros are the fee title owners of the 1,296 square foot strip of land. (2AA/303.)

#### B. The original owner of both properties starts, but then abandons, his effort to change the lot line between the 651 Property and the 643 Property

In the 1960s, the 643 Property and 651 Property were owned by Edwin and Ann Cutler. (RT/146-147.) The Cutlers lived in the home on the 643 Property and the 651 Property was a vacant lot. (RT/146-147.) The 643 Property was 50 feet wide and 157 feet deep. (See, e.g., 2AA/351-353.) The 651 Property was 63 feet wide and 157 feet deep. (*Ibid.*)

On February 4, 1985, Edwin Cutler submitted to the City of Sierra Madre Planning Commission an application for a variance, which would have the effect of increasing the width of the 643 Property to 58 feet and decreasing the width of the 651 Property to 55 feet. (2AA/346-353.) A variance was required prior to any boundary line adjustment because, at that time, the Sierra Madre Municipal Code required a lot width of at least 60 feet. (2AA/349.) Obtaining Planning Commission approval was just the first step in the process. (RT/181, 187.) Once approved, the applicant was required to obtain and record a survey and legal description—to be reviewed by the city engineer—and obtain a certificate of compliance signed by the director of public works. (RT/181, 187.) In the end, however, Mr. Cutler never completed the process, so the lot line was never adjusted. (2AA/358-361; RT/189-191, 218-222, 351-354.) There is no evidence in the record regarding why Edwin Cutler never completed the process.

# C. After efforts to adjust the lot line are apparently abandoned, a home is built on the 651 Property

In mid-1985, after apparently having abandoned his efforts to obtain a lot line adjustment, Edwin Cutler, his son Bevon Cutler, and David Shewmake entered into an agreement wherein Bevon and David would build a home on the 651 Property and then, when the home was sold, Edwin would receive from the sale the value of the undeveloped lot and Bevon and David would split the net remaining proceeds from the sale. (RT/148, 161, 167-168.) As part of the process of building the home on the 651 Property, Bevon and David built a six foot high brick wall between the two properties. (2AA/363; RT/161.) They built the brick wall in the same location where there was an existing chain link fence without verifying whether the chain link fence was on the property line. (RT/160.)

### D. When the 651 Property sold, all relevant documentation contains its original legal description

A "Notice of Completion" for the home on the 651 Property was issued on May 8, 1986. (2AA/371-372.) The legal description on the Notice of Completion is the original legal description, for a 63 foot wide lot. (2AA/371-372.) Prior to the issuance of the Notice of Completion, Edwin Cutler and Ann Cutler grant deeded the 651 Property to Bevon and David. (2AA/365-366.) Because the lot line was never adjusted, the grant deed from Edwin Cutler contained the original legal description of a 63 foot wide property. (2AA/365366.) There was no reference in the deed to any easement in favor of the 643 Property.

The 651 Property was then sold, and Bevon and David executed a grant deed in favor of the buyers, Manfred and Elizabeth Leong, which was recorded on May 9, 1986. (2AA/368-369.) The legal description remained the same and no easement was referenced. (2AA/368-369.)

# E. When the Shih-Kos purchased the 643 Property, they failed to properly inspect the boundary lines

In June 2014, the 643 Property was sold to the Shih-Kos (3AA/475-485.) The 643 Property was for \$658,500. advertised for sale as a 50 foot wide lot, and the Shih-Kos were aware of the width of the lot. (RT/252, 254.) The legal description in the grant deed is the original 643 Property legal description, a 50 foot wide lot. (3AA/446-447, 485; RT/250-251.) There is nothing about the easterly 8 feet of the 651 Property or any easements in favor of the 643 Property. (3AA/443-461; RT/233-234.) Prior to close of escrow, the Shih-Kos were specifically advised to independently verify the lot size and boundaries because those items had not been verified by the seller, but they chose not to. (4AA/522.)

#### F. The 643 Property trespasses on 1,296 square feet, or 13% of the 651 Property

There is no dispute that, if the Shih-Kos had investigated the boundaries of the 643 Property as they were advised to do before closing escrow, that investigation would have revealed the planter, portions of the driveway, and a portion of the back and side yard trespassed on the 651 Property a total of 1,296 square feet (157.14 foot length of the property by 8.25 foot width), which amounts to 13% of the Romeros' property. (4AA/512-520.)

## G. The Romeros purchase the 651 Property and the deed contains the original legal description with no reference to an easement in favor of the 643 Property

Turning to the 651 Property, in 2005 the Leongs sold the 651 Property to Dawn Hicks. (2AA/384.) The legal description in the grant deed confirms the property is 63 feet wide. (2AA/384.) There is no reference that the 651 Property is encumbered by an easement in favor of the 643 Property. (2AA/384.) The 651 Property was foreclosed upon in 2012. (2AA/387-389.) At that time, the legal description remained the same, 63 feet wide. (2AA/388.)

On April 9, 2014, the Romeros purchased the 651 Property for \$892,500. (3AA/403, 410.) No one told the Romeros the 651 Property was encumbered by an easement in favor of the 643 Property. (RT/661.) The lot size was advertised at approximately 9,900 square feet. (RT/660, 713.) The size of the lot was an important factor in their decision to purchase. (RT/661, 713.)

# H. The Romeros discover the Shih-Kos are trespassing on 1,296 square feet of their property

In 2015, while Mr. Romero was working on some yard improvements and taking some measurements, the measurements seemed inconsistent with a lot size of 9,900 square feet. (RT/663-664.) As a result, the Romeros hired a surveyor, James Kevorkian, to conduct a survey of their property. (RT/662.) Mr. Kevorkian concluded the brick wall was not built on the property line. (4AA/512-520; RT/389-393, 401.) Rather, the true property line was 8.25 feet closer to the 643 Property. (3AA/491; 4AA/514-520; RT/392.)

As a result, the brick garden bed (which is 5.53 feet wide) is on the 651 Property. (3AA/491; 4AA/519-520.) Additionally, 2.72 feet of the 643 Property driveway, to the east of the planter bed, is on the 651 Property. At the north end of the garden bed, where the brick wall starts, 8.25 feet of concrete slab is on the 651 Property. The garage on the 643 Property, located at the north end of the driveway, is 0.8 feet from the true property line and was constructed entirely on the 643 Property. There is a small window air conditioning unit on the garage that encroaches 1.2 feet into the true property line. (4AA/510; RT/167.) From the southwest corner of the Shih-Kos' garage to the back end of the 643 Property line, 8.25 feet by 69 feet (20 feet + 25 feet, 10 inches + 23 feet) of the backyard and side-yard is on the 651 Property. (3AA/491; 4AA/514-520.) The total trespass area is 8.25 feet wide and 157.13 feet deep, which equates to 1,296 square feet, or approximately 13% of the 651 Property. (3AA/491; 4AA/519-520; RT/272-273, 393.)

#### I. No structures on the 643 Property will have to be moved if a wall is built on the true property line

The trespass area is clearly depicted on a number of photos and renderings. (3AA/491-495; 4AA/509-510, 528, 537.) If the brick wall is moved to the actual property line, the first 30 feet of the 643 Property driveway would be 8.37 feet wide, the next 27.5 feet of the driveway (where it borders the 643 Property home) would be 7.2 feet wide, and thereafter the driveway would widen again. (3AA/491; 4AA/519-520.) The newly constructed brick wall would be 0.8 feet to the west of the 643 garage. (4AA/515, 519.) Thus, if the brick wall is moved to the true property line, no structures on the 643 Property would have to be moved and the 643 Property would not be landlocked.

J. The Romeros advise the Shih-Kos about the trespass, but the Shih-Kos do not agree to permit the Romeros to build a wall on the true property line

After learning about the encroachment, the Romeros realized they were unable to use 13% of their property because it was separated by a 6 foot high brick wall and raised brick planter box, and was being exclusively used by the 643 Property. (RT/714.) The Romeros desired to relocate the brick wall to the actual property line so they would have full use and enjoyment of their property. (RT/663.) Moving the brick wall to the actual property line will provide them with more privacy, will permit them to plant additional trees and an orchard, and will give them more room to put in a pool. (RT/670.)

The Shih-Kos primarily live in Taiwan. (RT/228.) The 643 Property is a rental property managed by David Tsai, who also served as the Shih-Kos' real estate broker when they purchased the 643 Property. (RT/227, 246.) After learning the location of the true property line, the Romeros contacted Mr. Tsai, provided him with a copy of the survey and stated they intended to move the brick wall to the actual property line. (3AA/487-489; RT/235-236, 663.) Thereafter, Mr. Tsai went to the City of Sierra Madre and learned about Edwin Cutler's 1985 variance application. (RT/241.) Based on what Mr. Tsai found, he incorrectly believed the lot line had

previously been adjusted. (RT/241-242.) Thus, Mr. Tsai did not agree to a relocation of the brick wall.

## K. The Romeros file their complaint and the Shih-Kos cross-complain

Unable to resolve the issue, on February 10, 2016, the Romeros filed a complaint against the Shih-Kos alleging causes of action for trespass, quiet title and declaratory relief. (4AA/562.) The operative third amended complaint, filed on May 22, 2019, alleges causes of action for wrongful occupation of real property, quiet title, trespass, private nuisance, wrongful disparagement of title and permanent injunction. (1AA/37-120.) The Shih-Kos filed a cross-complaint alleging causes of action for equitable easement, implied easement, quiet title and declaratory relief. (1AA/12-25.)

L. Following a court trial, the court orders that the Shih-Kos, and all future owners of the 643 Property, have an exclusive implied easement or, alternatively, an exclusive equitable easement to use and possess 13% of the Romeros' property

A court trial took place over four days in March 2020. The trial focused on the claims of implied and equitable easements over the 8-foot strip because, as the court stated, if it found an easement exists, that finding would dispose of the other claims. (2AA/304.) The court and the parties agreed at trial that given the nature of the disputed area, if the court were to conclude the 643 Property has easement rights with respect to the 1,296 square foot area, it would amount to an *exclusive* easement in favor of the 643 Property and that the Romeros would have no right or ability to use that portion of their property. (RT/442-443.)

On August 24, 2020, the court issued its proposed Statement of Decision, finding the Shih-Kos have an implied easement over the entire 1,296 square foot area. Alternatively, the court found the Shih-Kos have an equitable easement over the same area. (1AA/139.) The court overruled the Romeros' objections to the proposed Statement of Decision (1AA/151-289) and, on September 28, 2020, the court issued its Statement of Decision. (2AA/303-315.)

The court concluded "the Shih-Kos possess an implied easement over the eight-foot strip of land. Further, the Court finds that, if there were no such implied easement, an equitable easement should arise, which would entitle the Romeros to compensation of \$69,000." (2AA/304.) In so finding, the court rejected the Romeros' argument that a court does not have the power to award what is in effect an exclusive easement that precludes the actual property owner from any practical use of their property. (2AA/308.) The court further concluded its easement findings were dispositive of the other claims raised by the parties. (2AA/314.) Judgment was entered on October 26, 2020, and the Romeros thereafter timely appealed. (2AA/317-320, 342.)

M. The Court of Appeal reverses the court-created implied easement, finding it was an exclusive easement and exclusive implied easements are not permissible as a matter of law

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